No. S210804

In the Supreme Court of California

Even Zohar Construction & Remodeling, Inc., FILED

Plaintiff and Appellant,

vs.

0CT - 12013

Bellaire Townhouses, LLC, et al.,

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Defendants and Respondents.

Deputy

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Review From A Published Opinion Reversing An Order Vacating
Defaults And A Default Judgment
Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Four, No. B239928

Appeal From An Order Vacating Defaults And A Default Judgment Los Angeles Superior Court, No. BC458347 The Honorable Ralph Dau

ISSUE PRESENTED

Code of Civil Procedure section 473(b) requires a court to grant a motion for mandatory relief from a dismissal, default, or default judgment "whenever an application for relief is made no more than six months after entry of judgment, is in proper form, and is accompanied by an attorney's sworn affidavit attesting to his or her mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or neglect ... unless the court finds that the default or dismissal was not in fact caused by the attorney's mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or neglect." (Ital. added; all unspecified statutory references are to the Code of Civil Procedure.)

When a defendant (1) has previously but unsuccessfully moved to vacate a default or default judgment under section 473(b), and (2) files a subsequent and proper motion for mandatory relief from the default or default judgment under section 473(b) based on his or her attorney's admission of fault, but (3) does not present new or different facts, circumstances, or law under section 1008(b):

— must the trial court grant that motion, as the Sixth District held in *Standard Microsystems Corp.* v. Winbond Electronics Corp., 179 Cal.App.4th 868 (2009)?

— or must the court deny that motion, as the Second District, Division Four here held, disagreeing with and refusing to follow *Standard Microsystems*?

II. INTRODUCTION

When section 473(b) conflicts with section 1008(b)—that is, when a party makes a proper and timely renewed motion for relief from a dismissal, default, or default judgment, without proffering new or different facts, circumstances or law—must a court grant that motion, as section 473(b) requires and as *Standard Microsystems* holds? Or must the court deny the motion, as the Court of Appeal here held? Section 473(b)'s plain language answers this question, as it requires relief "whenever" a motion for such relief under that statute is timely, contains the requisite showing, and is in the proper form.

Even if section 473(b)'s single, expansive, and unambiguous "whenever" term is not dispositive, the legislative history of the two statutes and the policies that underlie them point unerringly to the same result. The legislative history of section 473(b) makes plain that relief is required when an attorney admits fault in a timely and proper motion for relief. As such, the statute is remedial—it requires a court to set aside a dismissal, default, or default judgment, thereby obviating the need for a legal malpractice action and permitting the client to prosecute or defend his or her case on

the merits. And although the legislative history of section 1008(b) makes clear that the Legislature intended to reduce the number of renewed motions, nothing in it undermines the legislative goal of section 473(b). Nor does that history show that the Legislature intended to mandate the forfeiture that section 1008(b) causes when a party shows entitlement to the anti-forfeiture result that section 473(b)'s mandatory relief provision guarantees.

Standard Microsystems thus correctly construed the two statutes to hold that, in the case of a conflict, section 473(b) prevails over section 1008(b). The Court of Appeal here erroneously refused to follow Standard Microsystems, undermining the policies that the Legislature sought to further in section 473(b) and requiring a forfeiture even when, as here, a party brings a meritorious yet renewed motion under that statute.

The Court of Appeal was frustrated with defendants for purportedly not making a proper showing of relief in their first section 473(b) motion. But it unnecessarily punished defendants rather than their attorney for that alleged shortcoming by reinstating the defaults and default judgment, setting the stage for a malpractice action by defendants against their attorney for failing to respond to plaintiff's complaint. The trial court, however, understood that it was improper—as well as pennywise and pound foolish—to blame defendants for their attorney's neglect. It struck the appropriate balance by granting defendants relief and ordering their attorney to pay plaintiff \$34,000 for the fees and costs plaintiff incurred in

litigating the section 473(b) motion. This was the balance the Legislature struck in section 473(c)—which requires the court to give the non-moving party that relief when it grants the motion. Because both sides can be made whole in such a situation and there is only a six-month period after a judgment within which a party may bring a section 473(b) motion—meaning multiple and endless renewed motions are unlikely—this Court should embrace *Standard Microsystems*' construction of the statutes and reject the Court of Appeal's.

The trial court found on undisputed evidence that defendants' renewed motion met the requirements of section 473(b) and that their attorney, not defendants, was the sole cause of the defaults and default judgment. That ruling was correct. This Court should therefore reverse the Court of Appeal's judgment.

III.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

The account of the facts that gave rise to the parties' dispute is drawn from plaintiffs' complaint, the allegations of which have not been tested by discovery or any adversary judicial process. Those facts are in any event irrelevant to the purely procedural question of law this case poses.

A. Plaintiffs Sue Dr. Fersht And Their Jointly-Owned LLC, Alleging Nonpayment Of Sums Defendants Purportedly Owe Plaintiffs For Work On A Jointly-Owned Condominium Development Project

Israel Even Zohar (Zohar) is the principal of plaintiff and appellant Even Zohar Construction & Remodeling, Inc. (EZ), a corporation. 1AA/2-4.1 In 2007, Zohar and defendant and respondent Dr. Samuel Fersht formed Bellaire Townhouses LLC (Bellaire), with Zohar and Dr. Fersht each owning a 50 percent share; Zohar is a member of Bellaire, while Dr. Fersht is its President. *Id.* Each contributed capital to Bellaire in the form of cash and adjoining parcels of real property in North Hollywood that each owned or had acquired, with the intent of combining the parcels so they could be developed as a condominium project. *Id.* Bellaire later entered into a contract with EZ, providing that EZ would act as a general contractor to develop the condominium project. 1AA/2, 5-6.

Allegedly, at Bellaire's request, EZ performed work in addition to the work their contract specified (including work that was Bellaire's responsibility as developer) and incurred related expenses, enhancing the project's value and making the

[&]quot;_AA/__" refers to the Appellant's Appendix, by volume and page number; "RT/__" refers to the Reporter's Transcript, by page number; and "MJN/RaymondDecl/__:_" refers to the Declaration of Jan S. Raymond in Support of the Motion for Judicial Notice, by number of the declaration in question and by page number of the attachment.

condominium units more marketable. 1AA/2. Dr. Fersht allegedly authorized this work and promised EZ and Zohar that Bellaire would pay for the work when the project was completed, but purportedly "reneged" on those promises. *Id.* EZ and Zohar allegedly then undertook to market and oversee the sale of the units, which resulted in the sale of most of them, but Bellaire and Dr. Fersht did not pay Zohar and EZ the sums they maintain are due them for their work. 1AA/3-4, 5-11.

In March 2011, Zohar and EZ filed a complaint against Bellaire and Dr. Fersht, the latter individually and as trustee of the Fersht Family Living Trust (defendants), in the Los Angeles County Superior Court, alleging breach of contract, breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, quantum meruit, unjust enrichment, fraud and deceit, negligent misrepresentation, breach of fiduciary duty, and unfair business practices. 1AA/1-40.

B. Defendants Unsuccessfully Petition To Compel Arbitration But Then Do Not Respond To The Complaint, So Plaintiffs Have The Clerk Enter Defendants' Defaults

After plaintiffs filed the complaint, defendants petitioned to compel arbitration. 1AA/44-45. In late August 2011, the court denied the petition as to EZ, finding the arbitration agreement was unenforceable as to it, but ruling that the arbitration agreement "does apply to plaintiff Zohar[.]" *Id.* Because of the overlap of the two plaintiffs' claims, the court stayed the arbitration of Zohar's

claims until the disposition of EZ's claims. *Id.*; see § 1281.2(c)(4) (permitting a stay of arbitration in such situation).

On August 31, 2011, plaintiff mail-served notice of entry of the order denying the petition on defendants, which triggered a September 20 due date by which defendants had to respond to the complaint. 2AA/233-38; see §§ 1281.7, 1013(a). Defendants did not file a responsive pleading, so on September 23, 2011, EZ notified defendants' attorney, Daniel Gibalevich (Gibalevich), that it would seek entry of default the following week unless a responsive pleading was filed immediately. 2AA/243-44. No pleading was filed, so at EZ's request, the clerk entered defendants' defaults. 2AA/252-60.

C. After The Trial Court Enters A \$1.7 Million Default Judgment, Defendants Move For Mandatory Code Of Civil Procedure Section 473(b) Relief Based On Both The Excusable And The Inexcusable Neglect Of Their Attorney, But The Court Denies The Motion

After EZ moved for entry of a default judgment, in early December 2011, the court conducted a prove-up hearing and entered a \$1,701,116.70 default judgment (plus interest) against defendants. 1AA/115-79.

Eight days later, defendants moved for relief from the defaults and default judgment, titling the motion one for "Mandatory Relief Under C.C.P. § 473[.]" 1AA/180-87. Defendants argued in their

motion that Gibalevich had committed both excusable neglect and inexcusable neglect, 1AA/183-85, with Gibalevich's supporting declaration stating that his need to spend "substantial" time away from the office on "personal issues" that required his "undivided attention," combined with his staff's failure to inform him of issues that needed his "personal attention," caused him not to file a responsive pleading:

- 3. Beginning the end of August and through the first part of November of 2011, I had to spend substantial amounts of time away from the office. I had to attend to certain personal issues that required my undivided attention. I believed that I had sufficient staff to assure competent handling of client files. My associates were instructed to notify me immediately of issues that would require my personal attention. It appears that my staff failed to maintain this file in accordance with this firm's policies and procedures.
- 4. Due to my frequent absences, I failed to file and serve the responsive pleading. Since the responsive pleading was never filed or served, defaults were taken against the Defendants. Had I filed the responsive pleading on time, prior to defaults being taken, the defaults and possible default judgments would have been avoided. It is clear that my mistake and excusable neglect resulted in the entry of defaults and default judgments against the Defendants.

1AA/186.

EZ opposed the motion. It urged that 1AA/189-306. Gibalevich was not credible to the extent he claimed unawareness of the deadline for a responsive pleading, noting that Gibalevich had been aware that a response was due by September 20 and that EZ had informed him of its intent to seek a default unless the deficiency EZ also challenged was cured immediately. 1AA/204-05. Gibalevich's claim of inattentiveness, noting that his mother is married to Dr. Fersht and that Gibalevich and Dr. Fersht "have frequent contact," which, EZ said, rendered not credible the notion that Gibalevich "was not staying on top of this case." 1AA/193. EZ claimed that the record "amply shows" that Gibalevich and Dr. Fersht "deliberately allowed defendants' defaults to be taken as part of a gambit to delay these proceedings and increase plaintiff's attorney's fees. This case does not involve the 'totally innocent client' to which Section 473(b) was directed." 1AA/194.2

Zohar also submitted a declaration disputing that Gibalevich had spent substantial time away from his law practice, claiming that in the fall of 2011, Dr. Fersht "repeatedly told [him] ... that Mr. Gibalevich was very successful, busy in his law practice and frequently in court." 2AA/292-93. Petra Sutter, Zohar's ex-wife and the listing real estate agent who was charged with marketing the condominium units, also filed a declaration, stating that at no time during her communications with Dr. Fersht, Gibalevich, and

We address EZ's "totally innocent client" argument *post*, at 54-56.

Gibalevich's mother during fall 2011 did Gibalevich state he was unable to attend to his law practice or was spending substantial time away from his office. 2AA/302-03. Finally, Andrew Hunter, EZ's former attorney, submitted a declaration stating that he had attempted, unsuccessfully, to resolve the case with defendants in 2010, and concluded that Gibalevich and Dr. Fersht "had no genuine interest" in resolving the dispute but, rather, wished to delay and "prevent EZ from recovering what it was owed for having successfully constructed the Bellaire condominium project." 2AA/296-97.

Defendants then filed a reply, 2AA/307-20, explaining that Gibalevich had failed to properly file or calendar the order concerning the petition to compel arbitration, which explained why a response date was not calendared; that Gibalevich's personal problems caused his absence from his office in September, October, and the early part of November 2011, which also caused him not to file a responsive pleading; and that in mid-November, he contacted EZ's counsel to secure a stipulation setting aside the default, but counsel refused to stipulate. 2AA/308. EZ then filed a surreply, reiterating that, although it had informed Gibalevich that his clients were facing default, Gibalevich did nothing. 2AA/323. Gibalevich had not disputed this fact.

On January 9, 2012 (all subsequent references to dates are to dates in 2012), the trial court conducted a hearing on the motion. RT/A-1. The court stated that while the motion was styled as one

based on section 473(b)'s mandatory relief provision, Gibalevich's declaration "fuzzes up the issue by referring to his mistake and excusable neglect"; as to the "mandatory relief aspect," the court observed, the declaration was "entirely too vague and conclusory." *Id*.

Gibalevich responded that "I'm basically taking the blame for failing to file a responsive pleading due to my personal problems," that his declaration stated "that it is my fault for not filing the responsive pleading," "that it was my mistake in not filing the responsive pleading," and that "I'm not blaming this on anybody else. The buck stops with me. This is my practice. At no point did I blame or point a finger at anybody else." RT/A-2, A-5. As to the declaration's references to excusable neglect, Gibalevich said, "that was a mistake in the language, because there was no intent on my behalf to ask for any kind of discretionary relief, it was always under mandatory relief." RT/A-3. Gibalevich also asked if he could file "an additional declaration outlining the extent of the personal problems I was having and what mandated my absence ... from the office and my failure to follow up on this matter," noting that "I don't think that my clients should be prejudiced by my mistakes" RT/A-5. The court did not respond to this request but ordered the matter submitted. *Id*.

That same day, the court denied the motion in a brief written order, stating that Gibalevich's declaration was "not credible, in light of the showing made by plaintiff, and it is entirely too general. It does not show attorney Gibalevich is solely at fault in not filing a timely responsive pleading. [3] Moreover, attorney Gibalevich tries to have it both ways: see paragraph 4 of his declaration, which claims he has demonstrated 'excusable neglect.' He has not demonstrated excusable neglect." 2AA/340 (ital. added).

D. Defendants Again Move For Mandatory Section 473(b)
Relief Based On Their Attorney's Neglect, Which EZ
Opposes; The Trial Court Stays Execution Of The \$1.7
Million Default Judgment Pending The Hearing On The
Motion

Six days after EZ served notice of entry of the order, defendants filed a second motion to vacate the defaults and default judgment, titled again as a "Motion for Mandatory Relief under C.C.P. § 473[.]" 2AA/341-57. In the motion, defendants stated that during the hearing on the first motion, the court had observed that although defendants were requesting mandatory section 473(b) relief, "defense counsel's declaration was not sufficiently clear and made contentions under the discretionary portion of section 473(b). Despite [defense] counsel's argument, the Court denied the motion. [¶] In order to address Court's concerns regarding the perceived generality of defense counsel's declaration, and to avoid harm to the defendants, at the hands of their attorney, this motion follows." 2AA/345. The motion did not mention section 1008(b).

We address the court's "solely at fault" comment *post*, at 58 n.6.

Accompanying the motion was another declaration from Gibalevich, entitled "Declaration of Fault," which stated:

- 4. On August 25, 2011, investigators with the Los Angeles District Attorney's office served [a] search warrant ... at my office
- 5. The investigation focused on medical providers and not on me or my practice.... [T]he search warrant was executed by a Special Master ... [who] proceeded to search the whole office violating various sections of the Penal Code as well as the attorney client privilege and attorney work product doctrine. It was later determined that the Special Master is a principal with a law firm which actively litigates matters with my office....
- 6. ... [O]ver 200 client files were unlawfully seized by the Special Master. Many of the seized files were active litigation files. All of the active litigation matters had various appearances, depositions, and motions on calendar. Some matters had [im]minent or approaching trial dates. To complicate matters, one of my associates, Mr. Savransky, resigned his position right after the search. That left me and Ms. Gina Akselrud as [the] only attorneys [in my office]....
- 7. In my effort to secure the return of my client files, I engaged Mr. Shkolnikov, a criminal defense attorney. I volunteered to assist him in his research and drafting efforts....

- 9. ... I spent all of my time on efforts to return my client's files. I researched and wrote many drafts of the motions that were filed. This consumed me. I was working on this most of the day, every day. When I wasn't in front of the computer, I thought of nothing else.
- 10. I began to obsess over my reputation and the disclosures that I had to make to Judges and opposing counsel alike [about the search].... I have to confess that this feeling of embarrassment is the reason why I failed to set out these facts in the declaration previously filed. I will never forget that day or the hell that followed....
- 11. ... I did experience a period of time, from middle of September through October of 2011, where I stayed away from the office, for days at a time.... I was ashamed and embarrassed. I was embarrassed in front of my employees, opposing counsel and judges that I had to face. This feeling of embarrassment is still with me.
- 12. Due to my frequent absences, my state of mind and obsession with getting my client files back, I neglected this matter. I failed to enter a responsive pleading and did not respond to [plaintiff's] emails notifying me of the default. Since the responsive pleading was never entered, defaults and default judgments were taken against my clients, the Defendants.

13. Had I filed the responsive pleading on time, prior to defaults being taken, the defaults and default judgments would have been avoided. It is clear that my mistake, inadvertence and neglect resulted in the entry of defaults and default judgments against my clients, the Defendants herein.

2AA/350-52.

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