SUPREME COURT

No. S210804

DEC 1 6 2013

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF

Frank A. WicGuire Clerk

Deputy

THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

EVEN ZOHAR CONSTRUCTION & REMODELING, INC., Plaintiff and Appellant,

VS.

BELLAIRE TOWNHOUSES, LLC, et al.,

Defendants and Respondents,

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After A Decision By the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Four, No. B239928 Los Angeles County Superior Court, No. BC458347 (Hon. Ralph W. Dau, Judge)

Ethan P. Schulman (SBN 112466)
J. Daniel Sharp (SBN 131042)
eschulman@crowell.com
CROWELL & MORING LLP
275 Battery Street, 23rd Floor
San Francisco, CA 94111
Telephone: (415) 986-2800
Facsimile: (415) 986-2827

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

2. The Unqualified And Unambiguous Statutory Language Of Section 1008 Admits Of No Exception; "All" Means "All."

Defendants' position that renewed motions under Section 473(b) are not subject to the requirements of Section 1008 runs headlong into the Legislature's unambiguous direction that those requirements specify the trial courts' jurisdiction over "all" motions for reconsideration and renewed motions, and that "[n]o application . . . for the renewal of a previous motion may be considered by any court" unless it is made according to those requirements. As the Court of Appeal correctly concluded, "the language of Section 1008 is clear and unambiguous" (slip op. 17), and leaves no room for judicial rewriting of the statute to create any such exception.

By its plain language, "the word 'all' means 'all' and not 'some.'

The Legislature's chosen term leaves no room for judicial construction."

Joshua D. v. Super. Ct., 157 Cal. App. 4th 549, 558 (2007); see also, e.g.,

Jefferson v. Cal. Dept. of Youth Authority, 28 Cal. 4th 299, 301 (2002)

(language releasing "all claims and causes of action" must be given a

"comprehensive scope"); Cal. School Boards Ass'n v. State of Cal., 192

Cal. App. 4th 770, 789 (2001) (statement that "all" costs must be

reimbursed by the State is "a clear statutory directive"; an interpretation of the statute that would allow partial payments "would render the word 'all' superfluous"); White v. Cridlebaugh, 178 Cal. App. 4th 506, 520-21 (2009) (the "plain and usual meaning of the word 'all'" "signifies the whole number and does not admit of an exception or exclusion not specified"); Rubin v. W. Mut. Ins. Co., 71 Cal. App. 4th 1539, 1547 (1999) ("In this context, all means all"); Stewart Title Co. v. Herbert, 6 Cal. App. 3d 957, 962 (1970) ("All' means everyone or the whole number, and it does not 'admit of an exception or exclusion not specified") (citations omitted).¹⁴

"If the words themselves are not ambiguous, [courts] presume the Legislature meant what it said, and the statute's plain meaning governs."

Martinez v. Combs, 49 Cal. 4th 35, 51 (2010); accord, Miklosy v. Regents of Univ. of Cal., 44 Cal. 4th 876, 888 (2008) (same); Murphy v. Kenneth Cole Prods., Inc., 40 Cal. 4th 1094, 1103 (2007) ("If the statutory language is clear and unambiguous our inquiry ends"). The courts "are not authorized to insert qualifying provisions not included, and may not rewrite the statute to conform to an assumed intention which does not appear from

¹⁴ Federal courts have reached the same conclusion. *See, e.g., Sander v. Alexander Richardson Invs.*, 334 F.3d 712, 716 (8th Cir. 2003) ("In short, 'all' means all") (citations and internal quotation marks omitted); *Knott v. McDonald's Corp.*, 147 F.3d 1065, 1067 (9th Cir. 1998) (same); *Trs. of Iron Workers Local 473 Pension Trust v. Allied Prods.*, 872 F.2d 208, 213 (7th Cir. 1989) ("Congress knew the difference between all, substantially all, and virtually all; and it opted for the unqualified all [when drafting the statute]").

its language." Stop Youth Addiction, Inc. v. Lucky Stores, Inc., 17 Cal. 4th 553, 573 (1998) (citations omitted); accord, Doe v. City of L.A., 42 Cal. 4th 531, 545 (2007) ("in construing this, or any statute, we may not broaden or narrow the scope of the provision by reading into it language that does not appear in it or reading out of it language that does"); Cornette v. Dep't of Transp., 26 Cal. 4th 63, 73-74 (2001); Cal. Teachers Ass'n v. Governing Bd. of Rialto Unified Sch. Dist., 14 Cal. 4th 627, 633 (1997); see also Sec. Pac. Nat'l Bank v. Wozab, 51 Cal. 3d 991, 998 (1990) (referring to the "cardinal rule of statutory construction that courts must not add provisions to statutes"); Code Civ. Proc. § 1858 (a court must not "insert what has been omitted" from a statute).

The unambiguous and unqualified language of Section 1008 precludes courts from reading into that statute an exception it does not contain. A court may not, "under the guise of construction, rewrite the law or give the words an effect different from the plain and direct import of the terms used." *Cal. Fed. Sav. & Loan v. City of L.A.*, 11 Cal. 4th 342, 349 (1995). Had the Legislature intended to except renewed motions for relief from default from the provisions of Section 1008, "it could readily have done so. It is our task to construe, not to amend the statute." *See id.* "We must assume that the Legislature knew how to create an exception if it wished to do so." *Id.* (citation and internal quotation marks omitted);

accord, Dicampli-Mintz v. Cty. of Santa Clara, 55 Cal. 4th 983, 992 (2012).¹⁵

In view of these principles, the Court of Appeal correctly concluded that "the use of 'all' and 'no' in section 1008 conveys the clear meaning that every renewal motion, without exception and not excluding one for mandatory relief from default based upon an affidavit of attorney fault, is governed by section 1008's requirements." Slip op. 18. Section 1008's requirements apply to renewed motions for relief from default under Section 473(b), just as they apply to all other renewed motions, because the Legislature used the inclusive adjective "all," evidencing an unmistakable intent to permit no exceptions.

3. The Legislature Was Urged To Except Motions For Relief From Default From The Requirements Of Section 1008, But Did Not Do So.

Because the plain language of Section 1008 is unambiguous, there is no need for the Court to resort to legislative history to divine its meeting. *Day v. Fontana*, 25 Cal. 4th 268, 272 (2001) (Court considers extrinsic sources, such as legislative history, only if "the statutory terms are ambiguous"). In any event, defendants explicitly concede that there is

¹⁵For this reason, defendants' reliance on the principle that a statute that results in procedural forfeiture must be strictly construed (Op. Br. 37-38) is misplaced. Plaintiff is not asking the Court to "construe" Section 1008 liberally, but only to enforce its plain language.

nothing in the legislative history of the 1992 amendments to Section 1008(b) that supports their attempt to read an exception into the unqualified language of the statute (Op. Br. 46), which on its face applies to "all" applications for the renewal of a previous motion.

But even if the Court deemed it appropriate to consider the statute's legislative history, it supports plaintiff's position, not defendants'.

Defendants assert that the extensive legislative history of the 1992 amendment of Section 1008(b) "fills hundreds of pages and does not once refer to section 473(b)." Op. Br. 46; *see also id.* at 40. That is not accurate.

In fact, the complete legislative history defendants have filed with the Court reflects that after the Legislature had enacted Senate Bill 1805 (one of the two bills in the 1991-92 legislative session by which it amended Section 1008), but just days before the Governor signed that measure, the Committee on Administration of Justice of the State Bar of California recommended that the statute be amended to exempt motions for relief under Section 473(b) from the requirements of Section 1008. Def. Mot. for Jud'cl Not., Second Raymond Decl., at 160-61. Senator Kopp's bill file contains a note conveying the message that despite that concern, the State Bar's lobbyist, Larry Doyle, would not ask the Governor to veto SB 1805, but instead would work on possible amendments to another bill. *Id.* at

162.¹⁶ Finally, it contains an undated draft bill containing such a proposed exception. *Id.* at 163-64 ("This section shall not prevent the making or granting of a motion for relief pursuant to Section 473"). However, that language was never enacted or, so far as plaintiff is aware, introduced.¹⁷

For this reason, defendants' "implied repeal" argument (Op. Br. 45-46) lacks merit. The legislative history establishes that the Legislature was urged to exempt Section 473 motions from the requirements of Section 1008, but decided not to do so. That history squarely contradicts defendants' unsupported inference that "the Legislature intended section 473(b) to prevail over section 1008(b) in the event of the kind of a conflict that presents here." Op. Br. 45.18

(continued...)

¹⁶ The note evidently referred to Assembly Bill 2616 (Peace), which was referenced in the State Bar memorandum. That legislation amended Code of Civil Procedure 437c, relating to summary judgment, but did not amend Section 1008. Stats. 1992, c. 1348 (A.B. 2616), §1; see Historical and Statutory Notes foll. Code Civ. Proc. § 437c; *Union Bank v. Super. Ct.*, 31 Cal. App. 4th 573, 590 & n.9 (1995).

¹⁷ To be sure, the Legislature's failure to enact legislation in accordance with the State Bar's suggestion is not conclusive as to its intent in enacting the 1992 amendments to Section 1008; this Court is properly reluctant "to draw conclusions concerning legislative intent from legislative silence or inaction." *People v. Farley*, 46 Cal. 4th 1053, 1120 (2009) (citation and internal quotations marks omitted). The materials from Senator Kopp's bill file are relevant for the limited purpose of establishing that the Legislature considered, but ultimately rejected, carving out an exception to Section 1008's requirements for motions for relief from default under Section 473, which contradicts defendants' argument that the Legislature somehow intended the 1992 amendments silently to create such an exception.

¹⁸ At most, even disregarding the history discussed in text, Sections 473 and 1008 "govern discrete subject areas, and the Legislature's failure to legislate expressly with respect to the rare instance in which they overlap

4. Section 473(b) Can Be Given Full Effect Without Doing Violence To The Plain Language Of Section 1008.

Thus, defendants' contention that the Court should read an exception into the requirements of Section 1008 for renewed motions for relief from default under Section 473(b) is inconsistent with the plain language of Section 1008, with the Legislature's expressed intent in amending that statute to render it exclusive and jurisdictional, and with time-honored canons of statutory construction that prohibit courts from rewriting statutes. In contrast, Section 473(b) can be given full effect without violating even one of those fundamental principles, as the Court of Appeal and other courts have correctly concluded.

As discussed above, Section 473(b) provides a narrow right to relief from default, default judgments, and dismissals when, within six months after entry of judgment, the defaulted party files an application for relief in proper form accompanied by an attorney's sworn affidavit credibly establishing that the default or dismissal was caused by the attorney's mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or neglect. So long as a party complies with Section 1008's jurisdictional requirements, there is no obstacle to its filing a second or renewed motion for relief under the attorney fault

⁽continued...)

does not suggest any legislative intent as to which should prevail." *Mejia*, 31 Cal. 4th at 667.

provision of Section 473(b). Thus, as the Court of Appeal succinctly observed, the need for a party filing such a motion to comply with the requirements of Section 1008 "does not mean that the statutes are in fatal conflict. That is simply the result of the statutes working together as the Legislature intended." Slip op. 19.

As the Court of Appeal also observed, the plain language of Section 473(b), which is phrased in the singular ("an application for relief"), does not address second or renewed motions seeking such relief. Certainly, nothing in the statute suggests that the Legislature intended to mandate that parties seeking such relief would be entitled to file a second such motion. To the contrary, that the Legislature made such relief *mandatory* so long as the statutory conditions are met strongly supports the conclusion that the Legislature contemplated that only a single such motion should be necessary.

Defendants' reliance on Section 473(b)'s use of the term "whenever" (Op. Br. 2, 35, 38, 44) to create a purported conflict between the two statutes is misplaced. In the context of the surrounding language, 19 it merely means that relief is mandatory "in any case" where the application

¹⁹ "The words of the statute should be given their ordinary and usual meaning and should be construed in their statutory context." *Catlin v. Super. Ct.*, 51 Cal. 4th 300, 304 (2011) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

is timely filed in compliance with the statutory conditions.²⁰ It does not, as defendants imply, somehow exempt motions for relief from default from complying with the generally applicable provisions of the Code of Civil Procedure that govern all motions. To the contrary, the legislative command that such an application must be "in proper form" makes it clear that Section 473(b) motions are equally subject to all such provisions, including provisions found in the same chapter of the Code of Civil Procedure (Chapter 4, "Motions and Orders," §§ 1003-1008) that contains Section 1008. Thus, Section 473(b) motions, like all other motions, must be made in the court in which the action is pending (§ 1004); must be brought on adequate statutory notice (§ 1005); and must be noticed, served and filed in compliance with the Code (§§ 1010-20). Likewise, the supporting attorney affidavit of fault must be made on personal knowledge and sworn under penalty of perjury (§ 2015.5).²¹ Section 1008 is just one of many such procedural requirements of general applicability, and it applies

²⁰ The penalty provisions in Section 473(c)(1) employ the same term. § 473(c)(1) ("Whenever the court grants relief from a default, default judgment, or dismissal based on any of the provisions of this section, the court may do any of the following").

²¹ Cf. Kendall v. Barker, 197 Cal. App. 3d 619, 624 (1988) (conclusory declaration by counsel stating on information and belief that previous attorney "excusably neglected" to answer the complaint was hearsay and was not competent to meet moving party's burden to obtain discretionary relief under Section 473).

to Section 473(b) motions just as it does to "all" other renewed motions and motions for reconsideration.

The Courts of Appeal have agreed with this plain-language and common sense reading of the two statutes, holding that Section 1008's jurisdictional requirements apply equally to renewed motions for relief from default under Section 473(b) as they do to all other renewed motions. Thus, in Gilberd v. AC Transit, 32 Cal. App. 4th 1494 (1995), after the trial court granted the plaintiff's petition for relief from the claim filing requirements of the Government Code and a motion for leave to file an amended complaint, and then dismissed the defendant's motion for summary judgment as moot, defendant filed a motion for reconsideration of the rulings and, in the alternative, sought relief from those rulings under Section 473(b) on the ground that counsel's error in failing to schedule a hearing on the trial court's tentative rulings was due to mistake, inadvertence, and excusable neglect. Id. at 1498. The trial court granted reconsideration, vacated its earlier orders, and sustained defendant's demurrer to the amended complaint without leave to amend. On appeal, the Court of Appeal vacated the trial court's order granting reconsideration and the resulting judgment of dismissal on the ground that defendant's motion for reconsideration did not meet the jurisdictional prerequisites for relief under Section 1008. The court rejected defendant's argument that the trial

court appropriately ordered relief under Section 473(b), finding it "easily refuted":

To hold, under the circumstances presented in this case, that the general relief mechanism provided in section 473 could be used to circumvent the jurisdictional requirements for reconsideration found in section 1008 would undermine the intent of the Legislature as specifically expressed in section 1008, subdivision (e): "No application to reconsider any order . . . may be considered by any judge or court unless made according to this section."

Id. at 1501. Other courts agree. *Garcia*, 58 Cal. App. 4th at 680 (following *Gilberd*'s holding that "a court has jurisdiction to reconsider its orders only under section 1008 and cannot do so by resort to section 473"); *cf.*Pazderka v. Caballeros Dimas Alang, Inc., 62 Cal. App. 4th 658, 664

(1998) (trial court lacked jurisdiction to grant reconsideration under Section 1008 where moving party did not present any new facts or law in motion for reconsideration or, in the alternative, for relief from judgment pursuant to Section 473). ²²

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